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CONVERSION FACTORS

Multiply By To obtain
inches (in) 2.54 centimeters (cm)
feet (ft) 0.3048 meters (m)
miles (mi) 1.609 kilometers (km)

HISTORIC TRAIL MAP OF THE LAMAR 1° x 2° QUADRANGLE, COLORADO AND KANSAS

By
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1995

Trail or road—Dashed where approximately located; queried where
inferred. Routes plotted from General Land Office (GLO) land plats,
early maps, or aerial photographs. Most trail or road names are from
original sources such as land plats. Some shorter trails and trail seg-
ments on the GLO land plats are omitted here to avoid cluttering the
map excessively. Some trails are terminated or their continuation is
queried where their destination was not shown on original source.
Locally, parts of the early trails are adjusted to fit modern courses of
streams. Trails date from 1830’s to 1880’s

o Town or other cultural feature—Approximately located; showing
approximate date of founding of a town or establishment of a post
office, not generally the date of the first person to arrive; alternative
town names and dates are in parentheses. Most newer town names
are in brown. Locations of towns shown on previously published
maps vary widely, and some locations shown here may be inaccurate.
Abbreviation used: P.O. = Post Office

X Topographic feature

—+—+—+— Railroad—Dashed where approximately located. Abandoned and disman-
tled, graded but rails never laid, or surveyed and never graded. Date
shows beginning or duration of operation. Operating railroads are
shown in brown. Abbreviations of railroads are explained in the text.
For more details about railroads, see books about railroads listed in
the “Sources of Information”
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INTRODUCTION

Many of the historic trails in the Lamar quadrangle were used by Indi-
ans long before the white man reached the area. The earliest recorded use
of the trails by white men in the Lamar quadrangle was in the 1820’s
when traders brought goods from St. Louis for barter with the Indians and
for commerce with the Mexican settlements in New Mexico. Trade with
Santa Fe and Taos in New Mexico led to development of the Santa Fe
Trail which had two major branches, the Cimarron branch and the Moun-
tain branch. Discovery of gold in the Rocky Mountains in central Colorado
in 1858 led to the surveying of several other major new trails to the gold
fields. Trails in the Lamar quadrangle included segments of the Mountain
branch of the Santa Fe Trail (principally a commercial route), the Chero-
kee Trail, and the Smoky Hill North and the Smoky Hill South Trails (prin-
cipally immigrant routes). The Santa Fe and Cherokee Trails followed the
Arkansas River along the southern edge of the map, a route that always
insured a reliable source of water for travelers. The two Smoky Hill Trails,
in the northeastern part of the map, traversed the mostly dry high plains
where availability of water was uncertain. In addition to the named major
trails, many new local trails were opened to afford connection to the major
trails, stage stations, trading posts, and military posts. Many of the local
trails were used extensively; some were so deeply worn that they still are
visible on aerial photographs.
Stage lines and stations were established along the Santa Fe Trail
(although few stations are described in the literature and all locations are
poorly known); seven dugout stations apparently were built along the
Santa Fe Trail from Fort Lyon, near Prowers, Colorado, eastward to Fort
Larned in Kansas, but little information has been found that shows the
locations of the stations. Stations were built along both the Smoky Hill
South and Smoky Hill North Trails; there the station names and locations
are well known. In addition, some stations were erected on the Cherokee
Trail, but as with those on the Santa Fe Trail, their names and locations
are not well known. Nevertheless all the known stations along the trails
have been placed as accurately as the information will allow.
When the trails were built, an effort was made to choose level routes;
however, very little grading was done, so stages were constantly travelling
down into valleys and back up the other sides or were fording streams.
Diaries of the travelers give accounts of stages turning over where travers-
ing tilted stream banks along valleys. The stages traveled as rapidly as the
drivers would let the horses run, and to keep the horses vigorous they were
changed about every 10-15 miles at stations where extra stock were kept.
These stations were called “swing” stations, but they provided little com-
fort to the passengers, because stops were only long enough to change the
teams of horses. About every fourth station was equipped with a kitchen
and dining room so that the passengers could eat meals three times a day.
These stations were called “home” stations. Some of them had beds, but
generally the stages did not stop for the night and the passengers had to
sleep on the coach as it traveled through the night. Along the Arkansas
River the stage passengers camped at night. Because of the scarcity of
trees to be used for lumber along the stage routes, many of the stations
were simply dugouts into the banks of streams or into the sides of hills. A
few stations were built of adobe or lumber.
Part of the profit for the stage companies came from the transport of
mail and freight. The stage contractors had to bid for the privilege of carry-
ing the mail, and the competition was very keen, even though the profit
was meager along some stage lines. Although the stage routes were estab-
lished by contractors to haul the mail and passengers, the routes were also
used by freighters, immigrants, and gold seekers. A succession of mail con-
tractors operated stage lines along the Santa Fe Trail through the Lamar
quadrangle and along feeder lines leading into the main trail. The first reg-
ular mail stage to use the Mountain branch of the Santa Fe Trail along the
Arkansas River in the Lamar quadrangle was in November 1859, when
the conductor, James Brice, was unable to get an army escort along the
Cimarron Cutoff, so he decided to follow the Mountain branch westward
to Bent’s Old Fort then southward to Santa Fe. Later in November,
another mail stage was the first to run northward along the Mountain
branch to the Arkansas River and eastward to Kansas (Taylor, 1971, p.
133). A feeder line from Fort Wallace in western Kansas led westward to
Cheyenne Wells on the Smoky Hill Trail and then southwestward to New
Fort Lyon; later this line extended farther west to Kit Carson and then to
Fort Lyon. Many changes of routes took place between the time when
delivery of mail started and when completion of railroads into the area
caused abandonment of the stage lines (See Taylor, 1971, for an excellent
discussion of the mail lines). The following principal mail companies served
the Lamar area:
Missouri Stage Company, February 1861.
Slemmons, Roberts, and Company—The Kansas City, Santa Fe, and
Canon City Fast Line, May 1861

Vickroy and Barnum—The Cottrill, Vickroy, and Company, April
1862

Barlow, Cottrill, Vickroy, and Barnum—The M. Cottrill and
Company, March, 1863. Also known as Kansas, Santa Fe, and
Canon City Express; Kansas City, Santa Fe, and Denver Mail and
Express Line; Santa Fe Stage and Express; Santa Fe Stage
Company; and simply Santa Fe Stage.

Barlow and Sanderson, February 1866

Southern Overland Mail and Express Company, early 1868

During most of the time the trails were used, travel was hazardous for
several reasons. The best known reason was that the Indians were antago-
nized by intrusion of white settlers into their native lands. The Arapahoe,
Cheyenne, Comanche, Kiowa, and Pawnee Tribes were particularly trou-
blesome for the white settlers in eastern Colorado. Treaties were agreed to
but were not kept by either the Indians or the white intruders. In the early
years (1858-1863) when there were fewer travelers inte Colorado, there
was much less trouble than in the later years (1864-1869). Trouble
increased when the military attempted to prevent the Indians from harass-
ing travelers along the stage lines. Retaliation by the Indians became most
active after the Sand Creek battle on November 29, 1864. Travel along all
of the stage lines into Colorado was slowed or curtailed for several months
after that battle. To protect the travelers along the stage routes, the U.S.
Government fortified some existing stage stations and set up new camps
or forts along the trails and garrisoned them with small units of cavalry.
The cavalry controlled the size of traveling groups and provided escorts to
assure their safety from Indian attacks. A systematic effort to kill off the
bison on the plains, and thus deprive the Indians of their main food supply,
probably accomplished more than anything else to stop the depredations
of the Indians and force them onto reservations.

The Cheyenne and Arapaho (later spelled Arapahoe) Tribes were rel-
ative newcomers to the Colorado plains, having moved to the headwaters
of the Platte River and the Platte-Arkansas divide in the early part of the
nineteenth century (Swanton, 1953, p. 279, 385). Even though they were
newcomers, they naturally were reluctant to vield their territory to the
aggressive white intruders. The whites tried several methods to decrease
harassment by the Indians. One method was to protect travellers by using
military escorts along the trails. Another was to offer reservations where
the Indians would be protected from white intrusion and have access to
wild game and agricultural lands.

On February 18, 1861, such a reservation (figure 1) was established
in southeastern Colorado for the Cheyenne and Arapahae tribes (Kappler,
1904a). It existed only until October 14, 1865, and then was ceded by
treaty. At that time [1865] each half-breed child of the early white settlers
along the Arkansas River was permitted to make a claim to 640 acres (the
equivalent of one square mile) of land along the north side of the river. On
November 26, 1870, after the Indian claims had been selected, the
remainder of the Arapahoe-Cheyenne Reservation was surveyed and put
up for sale. The claim numbers and claimants names are shown on figure
2. Two other earlier claims, those of Robert Bent—called the Spring Bot-
tom claim—and the claim of Jack Smith, near Point of Rocks, were
awarded by the Chiefs and Councillors on February 18, 1861, apparently
in consideration of Bent’s and Smith’s services as interpreters during the
negotiation of the 1861 treaty, entitled: “Treaty between the United States
of America and the Arapahoe and Cheyenne Indians of the Upper Arkan-
sas River” (Kappler, 1904a). Each of the two claims contained the equiva-
lent of one square mile (640 acres). The length of time the original
claimants of the two treaties held their claims is unknown, but most likely
they were soon sold or given to the large cattle ranches along the Arkan-
sas River. Unfortunately, establishment of the reservation and the award of
half-breed claims did not bring peace to the Colorado plains or safety
along the immigrant trails or along the commercial routes.

Even if the Indian tribes had been peaceful, travel along the Smoky
Hill routes was also hazardous because of the lack of water and game. The
only source of water was from scarce springs, ephemeral water holes, and
a few ephemeral streams. For example, in the summer of 1859 when the
stage along the Leavenworth and Pikes Peak Express Road was operating,
the Republican River in the Limon quadrangle contained only a few water
holes. Even the Smoky Hill River and Big Sandy Creek in the Lamar quad-
rangle are ephemeral and dry up during many years. The shortage of
game resulted from the early travelers eliminating the game or driving it
away; thus, later travelers had difficulty in procuring meat. Along the
Smoky Hill routes many people died of thirst or starvation during the sum-
mers or froze to death during the harsh winters.

Westward movement and settlement of whites onto the Great Plains
was encouraged by the Homestead Act of 1862. Many persons displaced
by the Civil War moved onto the newly opened land, even though the Indi-
ans were still a potential menace. After the General Land Office com-
pleted the land surveys in about 1870, many of the Indians had moved out
of the area. Much of the land became safe for settlement and small towns
sprang up, generally spaced no more than 10 miles apart—the distance a
team and wagon could travel to town and back in a day. Roads were built
to connect the new communities and provide access to the major trails.
Railroads were built westward and were gradually completed across the
Lamar quadrangle to meet the needs of an expanding population.

UNSOLVED PROBLEMS

Locations of many stage stations, road ranches (built to provide the
needs of travelers), and ghost towns are not well known because available
records provide few detailed maps or descriptions of the exact locations of
these features. Most early maps were very generalized and lacked a sur-
veyed grid; even after the General Land Office township grid became avail-
able, cultural features commonly were placed in different spots on almost
every map published. In addition, many features, such as stage stations
and trails, were abandoned before the land was surveyed and before coun-
ties were organized, so these features cannot be found on the land plats or
on county deed records. After the stage lines were abandoned, the station
buildings were almost immediately torn down and scavenged as material
for constructing buildings elsewhere. Cultivation of the land followed set-
tlement, and most of the trails were plowed over or were obliterated by
wind-blown sand and silt from nearby plowed fields.

METHOD OF PREPARATIOEPOF THE HISTORIC TRAIL
M

The most reliable sources of accurate locations of the trails were aerial
photographs, the original General Land Office (GLO) land plats, and the
early surveyor’s field notes that were prepared only a few years after the
trails were in use. The railroads were located mainly from many excellent

maps and books. The names and locations of towns were obtained from
old maps, gazetteers, postal guides, and the earliest site localities in the
official applications for establishment of post offices. The correct location
for many towns was obtained from U.S. Postal Service site maps, but
some towns did not have site maps, so accurate locations of some towns
cannot be assured. In addition, the locations of post offices have changed
over the years, but each place where a town post office existed is shown.
Excellent articles about events along the historic trails in the quadrangle
have been published and were a great help in preparing the map. U.S.
Army high-altitude aerial photographs were used to locate some of the
trails. In addition, all trails plotted from the land plats were searched for on
the aerial photographs. Because of plowing, erosion, and the relatively
slight use of some trails during the 20th century, many trails are no longer
detectable on the aerial photographs. Less than five percent of the land in
the Lamar quadrangle is in its original prairie condition; most of the land
has been cultivated for about 120 years. Every aerial photograph of the
quadrangle was studied with a stereoscope in order to find old trails. Very
few segments were found. Therefore, most of the trails had to be plotted
from the land plats made during the 1870’s. Finally, the trails, railroads,
stage stations, towns and other features were transferred to a mylar base
map of the Lamar quadrangle.

About 95 published and unpublished maps, many books, and articles
were examined. Unfortunately, because the locations of many cultural fea-
tures varied in these sources, the exact locations were difficult to deter-
mine; therefore some features may not be accurately located on the map.
Where the location of a town or other feature is uncertain, the term “loca-
tion?” is added on the map.
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RAILROADS IN THE LAMAR QUADRANGLE

A.T. & S.F. Ry.—Atchison Topeka & Santa Fe Railway. 1873-today.

A.V. R.R.—Arkansas Valley Railroad. 1872-1877 from Kit Carson to Las
Animas; leased in 1873 by Kansas Pacific Railroad. In 1875 built
from West Las Animas to Timpas Creek; last 19 miles followed close
beside the Santa Fe tracks. Trains ran only to La Junta. Proposed to
be extended to Pueblo. Track abandoned from Kit Carson to Timpas
Creek in 1877; dismantled by Kansas Pacific in 1878.

H. & S. Ry.—Holly & Swink Railway 1906-1908. Absorbed as part of the
Arkansas Valley Railway by the Santa Fe in 1908; see Ormes (1963,
p. 271, and Wilkins, 1974).

K.P. R.R.—Kansas Pacific Railroad. 1869-1880; bought by the Union
Pacific in 1880.

M.P. R.R.—Missouri Pacific Railroad. 1887-1982, Construction by Pueblo
& Stateline Railway Division; Missouri Pacific started service Decem-
ber 28, 1887, and regularly scheduled trains started service January
1, 1888; taken over by Union Pacific in 1982.

P. & A.V. RR.—Pueblo & Arkansas Valley Railroad. 1875-1900. Built
the Santa Fe line from Granada to Pueblo (see A.T. & S.F. Railway).

P. & S.L. Ry.—Pueblo & State Line Railway 1887. This company con-
structed the Missouri Pacific Railroad, 1887.

U.P. R.R.—Union Pacific Railroad. 1880-today.

RAILROADS OF UNCERTAIN EXISTENCE AND LOCATION
[Although some were originally paper railroads, some later became part of
operating lines]

A.C. & P.—Atchison Colorado & Pacific. 1879. A consolidation of several
Kansas Railroads that operated in 1876-1878; see Ormes (1963, p.

76).

A.V. & N.M. Ry.—Arkansas Valley & New Mexico Railway. From West
Las Animas to Trinidad and to the New Mexico line to connect with
the Kansas Pacific’s Arkansas Valley Railroad, 1876; see Ormes
(1963, p. 72).

A.V. R.R.—Arkansas Valley Railroad. Rocky Ford to Shelton Junction as
part of the Holly & Swink line.

A.V. Ry.—Arkansas Valley Railway Company. A paper railroad; a branch
of proposed Colorado and New Mexico Railway Company of 1870.
Proposed to run from Las Animas to Pueblo; papers filed September
20, 1871.

A. & P.P. R.R.—Atchison & Pikes Peak Railroad Company. 1859. Name
changed to Union Pacific Central Branch in 1867; later became the
Missouri Pacific; opened to traffic in 1868. See Ormes (1963, p. 75).

A. & T. R.R.—Atchison and Topeka Railroad. Name changed in 1863 to
Atchison Topeka & Santa Fe Railroad and in 1893 to A.T. & S.F.
Railway; incorporated February 11, 1859; building started in 1869;
1873-today.

C. & N.M. R.R.—Colorado & New Mexico Railroad Company. A subsid-
iary of the Atchison Topeka & Santa Fe, 1873-1875. Papers filed
November 16, 1868. Built up the Arkansas River to Granada in
1873, then from Granada to near the present town of Rocky Ford in
1875, then Rocky Ford to Pueblo in 1876. Leased to the Santa Fe in
1873 and 1875. See Ormes (1963, p. 107) and Wilkins (1974, p.
11 and 14).

D.C. & C.V. Ry.—Dodge City & Cimarron Valley Railway. Incorporated in
1911 in Kansas; was a subsidiary of the Atchison Topeka & Santa Fe
in 1926; D.C. & C.V. Ry. built the Colorado segment of a line that
connected Las Animas with Amarillo, Texas, in 1937; later became
the Atchison Topeka & Santa Fe Railway. See Ormes (1963, p. 243)
and Wilkins (1974, p. 214).

CAMPS AND OTHER PLACES NAMED AND USED BY
THE COLORADO CAVALRY IN THE 1860°’S IN OR
PROBABLY IN THE LAMAR QUADRANGLE

[See “Compiled records showing service of military units in volunteer
Union organizations” in microcopy no. M594, reel 4, for Colorado, in
drawer 31/9 at the Denver Regional Office of the National Archives]

Big Spring stage station and army fort—SW % NE s sec. 12, T. 13 S., R.
49 W.

Camp Brown—Colorado Territory, Arkansas River.

Camp Caldwell—Colorado Territory, 8 miles above Fort Lyon toward
Denver, 35 miles from Bents Old Fort (sec. 4, T. 22 S., R. 49 W.?).

Camp Canby—No information on location.

Camp Clark—Colorado Territory, 6 miles above Ft. Lyon, (NW 4 sec. 2,
T. 23S.,R. 49 W.?).

Camp McKay—On Arkansas River, location unknown.

Camp Relief—In northwest part of quadrangle 66 miles from Fort Lyon,
enroute to Denver.

Camp Ross—Colorado Territory, on Arkansas River.

Camp Splitrock—No information on location.

Camp Tappan—Colorado Territory, on Arkansas River but location
unknown.

Cheyenne Wells station and army fort—Sec. 22, T. 13 S., R. 44 W.

Fort Fauntleroy, later Fort Wise, later Old Fort Lyon—Sec. 35, T. 22 S.,
R. 48 W.

Fort William, also called Bents Old Fort—NW 4 sec. 23, T. 23 S., R. 54
W.

Kings Ferry and stage station—SW % sec. 1, T. 24 S., R. 556 W.

New Fort Lyon—T. 23 S., R. 51 W.

Point of Rocks Indian Agency and Stage Station—50 miles above Fort
Lyon on Arkansas River, just north of La Junta (SW corner sec. 36,
T.23S., R. 55 W).

Spring Bottom Stage Station—West of original Rocky Ford on Arkansas
River (middle of north edge sec. 27, T. 22 S., R. 57 W., on Crowley-
Otero County line). Location uncertain.

Unnamed camp—Near Bents Old Fort and 33 miles from Camp Caldwell.
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